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B29 – Super Fortress
Foreword
Following is a transcription of handwritten letters that Dad (Billy J. Burgess) has written to his children, Sandra and Gary, so that they - as well as any grandchildren, great-grandchildren, etc. can appreciate the trials/tribulations/antics of World War II through Dad’s eyes. None of the handwritten letters were changed – except maybe for punctuation or grammar.  Dad has a very artistic script type penmanship (we have an 11 x 17 framed penmanship certificate from T. L. Handy Jr. High School in Bay City dated February 12, 1932 that was given to Dad). Because of that, I chose to use a script font to be most similar to his handwriting. At this writing Dad is about to have his 88th birthday.  It amazes me that his memory is so vivid that he can remember the amount of detail in these letters.

These compilations of letters have been written over several years time but most of them have come in the past year as Dad put pen to hand.  The purpose of putting them in a typewritten form is so that they can be read more easily and are all in one place. To further enhance the letters, I have done some research of some of the bases, ships, etc. and included them for better understanding and clarification. 

We certainly appreciate what Dad and his generation went through to keep our country free and make a better life for his children and grandchildren.  But part of the story that cannot be forgotten is that of Mother’s (Clara) role back at the home front in Bay County, Michigan.   To think of the sacrifices she made in doing her part – giving birth to Sandra while Dad was away – not knowing if he would return safely, raising chickens to get extra money, etc.  While Mother says she does not have any stories to relate – I’m sure she is keeping them in her heart and we truly don’t know how hard she worked to keep the home fires burning.

Formatting and compiling these letters has been a very rewarding experience as I began to see the war through Dad’s eyes.  I hope all who read these in the future will be as thankful as I am that Dad was able to come back to us safely to tell his story.

Daughter-in-law

Karen Landosky Burgess

October 2005
NOTE: Dad was working for Dow in Bay City, Michigan when he was drafted. His employer applied for a deferment for him but it did not come through before he had to report. So he reported in December 1942 and served until his deferment came through (September 1943). The deferment was for six months. Then in March of 1944 he again served until Nov. 1945

Dad’s Dates of Services

December 22, 1942 – September 9, 1943

March 7, 1944 – November 30, 1945
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From the Beginning 
Military Reminiscences of World War II 
– as hand written by Billy J. Burgess
Bay City, Michigan

Just before Christmas 1942 – John Matthews and I went to Detroit for induction into service. John with his deafness wasn’t expected to pass and it proved true.  They set us up in a hotel and fed us dinner. John and I inspected our room, and then hit the street looking for a hot spot. Not familiar with Detroit, we hailed a cab and asked that he take us to a good place. We got in and he made a U turn placing us across the street at the 509 club saying 75 cents. John was so mad he threw the coins at him. Harry Jarkey was performing and we stayed ‘til closing. We then went to a lunch counter to have coffee. It was near 4 o’clock when we got back to the hotel. We elected to shower thus saving time later. I had gotten into bed and John was about to when the phone rang informing us of breakfast in the dining room in an half an hour. No sleep. During the physical, they also took much info.  I had an officer ask my name and when I told him he said no man is named Billy, its William and started to write. I said to him, if you go ahead and write William you’re inducting someone else and this Billy will go home. He changed it!
Fort Custer, Augusta, Michigan
Shortly after Christmas, we loaded a train for Fort Custer in Augusta, Michigan stopping in Saginaw, Flint and other towns picking up more inductees. Once at Custer we went thru further physicals, shots, vaccinations, issue of clothing, bedding, dog tags, etc. When we finally got to a barracks, we were tired and anxious to get some sleep. Before that a soldier came in with a list for K.P.  The army doing everything alphabetically Burgess got it. At the mess hall I and another Joe was assigned to the vegetable cook. He led us to the storage room of vegetables saying he needed 3 bags of potatoes and a bag of carrots. Immediately I thought of movies I’ve seen with a Joe sitting in a pile and peeling by hand. He added there is the machine and kettles. When you fill them take to the kitchen and get more kettles. He then left. I asked the Joe if he knew how to operate the machine. He said I’ve never seen one. We then examined and seen it had a rough cement lining with a turn table at the bottom. We found the switch and turned it on. The bottom began to revolve. We shut it off and filled it with spuds. A mistake as it was overloaded and had a difficult time getting started. The cook returned and asked how it was coming. We told him we had the first load in and waiting for it to shut off. A mistake – it did not do it automatically. Well, the #1 spuds were now just shreds. Second mistake – we should have turned on a water valve that would flush the skins away. The cook was so mad he took us out to the kitchen and gave us to the pastry cook. The pastry cook had 2 large wooden block tables he wanted cleaned. They were covered in flour and dough. Again no instructions. We got a bucket of water - pouring it on the tables and started to wipe with wet rags. Another mistake – the flour and dough became a slurry that just moved around and was dripping down the sides. We should have scraped the tops and finished with just a damp rag. When the cook seen what we had done be about exploded. He ordered both of to go sit out in the dining room. There we sat until about 2 in the morning when we were sent to our barracks.
For the few days I was at Fort Custer, Mother drove down in our 1940 Chevrolet to see me even though we were able to be with one another for just a few hours. She probably used all her gas rations for a month or more.
Fort Belvoir, Virginia
I was sent to Fort Belvoir, Virginia for basic training with the engineers. 22 days later I ended up in the hospital in a semi coma from pneumonia. I recovered and was given a convalescent furlough. Many were discharged as spots on their lungs would not clear. When I returned to Belvoir my group had completed their basic and moved out. As a result, I was sent to a new camp in western Pennsylvania – Camp Shenango.  From Belvoir to Shenago I boarded an ancient wooden passenger car painted deep red with a black top. Inside, the seats were in green velour, overhead the lanterns you could see were once kerosene that had been converted to electric. The car must have been from the 1800’s.

Camp Shenango, Pennsylvania
With exceptions of walkways it was a mud hole. Supply trucks to the mess halls were pulled in with a half track. Again, with the army being alphabetical, a fellow Royal Bruce and I became friends. The camp was a melting pot. You were there until they found an outfit for you to join. Daily to keep you occupied you were sent on a 3 to 5 mile hike. Bruce and I decided to get out of the hike so as we passed a barracks we hurriedly slipped out and into it. This barracks, as others, were empty except a guy on the far end pulling fire guard. Someone was always assigned to keep fires going in the 4 or so stoves. We were only in for a minute or two when an officer walked in and wanted to know what we were doing there. Bruce, quick on the trigger, said on fire duty sir; he then asked me, I told him just got off fire duty sir; He accepted this and began walking to the poor soul on the far end. When he was about halfway, we were out the door and into a barracks about 4 away, ran its length and out the far door.

One day a posting on the bulletin board wanted deep-sea divers; it carried a T. Sgt. rating and a 10% or 20% premium pay. Bruce and I decided to sign-up. When we went to sign up we found our orders were already cut to leave the following day. I to Fort Kilmer in New Jersey and I don’t remember where Royal went.  
Fort Kilmer, New Jersey
Going from Shenago to Kilmer by train we went through Altoona, Pennsylvania where they have a hair pin curve on the mountainside and looking across you can see other cars of your train. The curve is so sharp the wheels ground against the rails. In Kilmer, I joined the 840th engineering aviation battalion. A few days later we loaded on the British passenger ship Aquitania.
Aquitania

The ship was just short of 1000 feet long and we had between 16000 and 18000 troops aboard – in addition to the normal crew. We were assigned to B deck where they had mounted canvas bunks 4 high exposed to the elements – although at nightfall large shutters were dropped so no light could be seen from outside.  The 3rd day out we hit a storm of all storms. Old salts who had sailed for 20 to 30 years said afterward that it was the worst they had ever encountered. Believe 90% or more to be sick. The gutter at decks edge designed for water to flow off was filled with vomit. I was fortunate that I was located about mid-ship that received less movement. Not feeling the best but wanting breakfast, the 1st Sgt who slept on the bunk above me and I decided to go for breakfast – the only ones in our company. In the mess hall there were maybe 2 dozen G.I.’s. The cooks were sick but had managed to put out a kettle of black coffee, one of hard boiled eggs and one of oatmeal, no milk. The Sgt and I sat on a couple of cups of coffee and 2 eggs. With the storm, the screws would come out of the water, speed up and vibrate the whole ship. A corridor that ran about 2/3 the length of the ship leading to staterooms that if you stood on one end you could see the other end twist nearly out of sight. The storm subsided and the following day somehow the ship was informed there was a German sub – back in wait ahead of us. We did an about face and for a day, headed back west before turning around and taking a different route.
Greenock Scotland

After a little over 9 days at sea we landed in the harbor of Greenock, Scotland – just north of Glasgow. The harbor looked like a ship junkyard. The ships were nearly all blackened from fires, some with much upper structure missing, others listing badly from water in their hulls. I don’t know if they were damaged at sea and limped into the harbor or had been bombed there in the harbor.  Right after anchoring, members of the Scottish Regiment, the Black Guards, came aboard. They were a tough group that denounced the King and Queen; nearly all had noses that had been broken, cauliflowered ears, teeth out, shaggy eyebrows partially covering their eyes from the cuts and many with knife scars on their face all from fights.  I was coming around the aft end when one of the Scots on a dead run ran into me spilling us both to the deck. He hurriedly was on his feet helping me up and brushing me off while saying “Sorry Yank” but I spend all my fu_ _ _ _ _  time dodging fatigues. With that he was off and running. Seconds later here comes his Sgt. apparently attempting to catch him. 

Chelmsford near London, England
We loaded onto a train and were sent to an air base under construction for B25’s just northeast of London near the town Chelmsford. We were informed the ship carrying our power equipment had been sunk so we had little more than pick and shovels to work with. The B25 was a hot ship for landing and before they had even flown one bombing mission they had cracked up a half a dozen. One day we were assigned to helping members of the power company manually setting light poles. We had set several and were lined up to set another when one Limey asked another what time it was – he looked at his watch and said tea time and off they went leaving us standing. I believe the whole war had to stop for their tea time.
One day while working at another battalion air base nearby we broke for lunch. There was a steam roller left standing. One of our fellows who knew how to run it got on and drove it back to our base taking back roads. Our first piece of power equipment.  There were many others that were stolen. I got one day to try and drive the steam roller (not actual steam just a terminology from when they were). I was all over the place – it had hydraulic steering – real tricky.

Much of our battalion was composed of guys from the back hills of Tennessee and Kentucky. Most could not read or write. The army had to train them to sign their names for the payroll. Many had no first name only initials. Those I remember W. W. Edington, T. J. Biddle and O. E.Brown. One day Biddle approached me nervous like and asked if I would read his letter. I told him I didn’t want to read his mail until he said I can’t read. Well, the letter was from his girlfriend, poorly written and much mis-spelling. After I finished he asked if I would answer it for him. I said O.K. if he would tell me what to say. He did a little and then asked if I would add more.  I did – and made it as mushy as I could. After that he would have done anything for me. 
Orders finally arrived at battalion of my deferment. Not knowing the time I was to leave, they placed me in our orderly, like a clerk. While there one day, Lt. Maloney and Lt. Murphy had me drive them over to a farmers house. Maloney engaged the farmer in conversation on one side of the house while Murphy raided his green onion patch. Back at the orderly we had onion sandwiches.

Earlier I was given a pass to London. On the train I met a fellow from another outfit named Snyder. We doubled up to see the sights of London. We went on a walking tour led by a Limey. He showed us Big Ben, the Parliament Building, numerous statues – all outside. Finally we were approaching Buckingham Palace and he got excited saying we Yanks were in luck, the King and Queen are in residence. Two flags flying over the palace so indicated.  The guards at the gate were in battle clothes – not their fancy like during peace time. Making faces and doing other antics before them would not change their expression as they continued to stare directly forward. Snyder and I ventured to the north of London to the Paladium and went ice skating. Everyone had to be off the streets at midnight. The army had trucks that would take you to the Red Cross or the U.S.O. quarters. We got bunks in a building arriving in the dark. The following morning we found it was the only building in the area standing. Everything around it was in rubble. 
Reluctant to write about this event but then thought it will be adults that are going to read this: Returning from a pass to London by train to Chelmsford, it was evening and a moonlit night. The Army had a truck in a nearby field from the depot that met each train to take us and those on pass to Chelmsford back to camp. Leaving the train, I and a few others fell in step with Lt. Maloney, who was also returning from London. As we neared the truck, instead of the G.I.’s loading on the back of the truck, they were standing in line from the cab. As we got closer, one G.I. said you can step in front of me Lieutenant. Lt. Maloney then went forward to the cab and there laid a girl with a G.I. on top of her. With the line up she was ready to take on the Army. This I admired in Maloney, his diplomacy. He went back to the 3rd or 4th guy in line and said “It may have been OK for the first few on her but, as I see it you are playing 5th or 6th fiddle and maybe more.” With that, the guy stepped out of line, with those behind following. Down to a few, they also dispersed. Maloney then went to the cab as one guy was leaving and told her to pull up her pants and get her ass out. Wiping her crotch and pulling up her pants, she left.
An interesting story – our latrine was a large tent about 150 to 200 ft. from the Quonset, it contained 5 or 6 large buckets shaped like the old coal shuttles with a wooden top having a hole. On a daily basis, the Limey’s came to empty these into larger containers on a truck. They were always dressed in suit coat, shirt, tie and cap. Executive honey dippers I guess! On one occasion what we got at mess gave us the G.I.s. I awoke with cramps and hurried barefoot to the latrine and waited my turn. The one trip relieved me but others made several. The following morning the path to the latrine was lined with shorts and piles of shit. How I ever managed to avoid in the dark was a miracle.

London had a chain of Wimpy’s Hamburgers, similar to our McDonalds. The buns though were made from sawdust-like flour that contained nutrients that they would not get in their rationed food.  The hamburger certainly wasn’t meat – whatever couldn’t even guess. I ate breakfast one day in a café. It had linen tablecloths and napkins, artificial flowers in a vase, sterling silverware and fine china. Limited menu, ordered eggs and tea. I received one slice of the sawdust bread, a dab of marmalade, tea, powdered eggs and a small wedge of cheese. In spite of their shortages they seemed to have ample cheese and tea. Cost was 1 or 2 shilling.

The G.I.’s were gathering a British coin name Thriv-Me Bit – no longer minted – equivalent to our nickel and smaller than our dime. They were nearly pure silver and they were having them made into bracelets for wives and girlfriends back home. Wanting one for Clara, Aunt Mary and Aunt Ethel, I began gathering.  I was informed you could get all you needed at the Bank of England. Deciding to go there, Snyder and I inquired from a Limey as to its whereabouts. He said you’re going right Yank – it’s just down a wee-bit. Well, we walked that wee-bit and no bank. So we asked another Limey – same answer – down a wee-bit. Again, after that wee-bit – no bank. So we asked another, same answer, down a wee-bit but he added you’re not walking are you? You best take a bus. This we did arriving at the bank just as it was closing. We got thru the first set of doors only to be stopped by a guard dressed in black riding boots, white riding chaps, a shallow tail red coat, ruffled shirt and a top hat covered in white like fur saying you can’t come in Yanks the bank is closed. I tried to explain what I wanted but he ushered us out. I later got sufficient coins from nearby bank branches.
Once home, one of the first things I did was to get those bracelets made. I went first to Herman and Hess Company jewelry store. Old man Hess waited on me. I spread the thriv me bits on the counter and told him what I wanted. Old Hess was concerned about defacing currency and he would first have to do some checking. Disgusted I swept up the coins and went to Hegland Jewelers. For what I wanted Hegland said it would be 10 cents for each drilling, 10 cents for each link plus the cost of the bracelet I selected. I got them made and Mother still has hers. Mother’s bracelet contains both 3 pence and 6 pence. Both though being nearly pure silver.
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Near our base in England there were three small villages – Matching Tide, White Roading and Matching Green. All had a pub and a center court containing a phone booth. Matching Green was the nearest and where we could go for a beer. All beer was draft- mild and bitters. Alone neither met our taste buds but served a half mild and a half bitters Limey’s called it Haf & Haf it was fairly good. Now the pubs closed at 8:00 we got there about 6:30 or later so just before closing we would often buy a liter to take back to base. The bottle had a neck that was treaded inside. The corresponding cork had matching treads and appeared to be made of compressed charcoal. The liter of beer was about a shilling but the deposit on the bottle and cork was about 5 shillings. The reason – replacements could not be gotten because of the war.

I was one day alone in London as Snyder’s pass was one day less and he had left. I was in a pub having a beer when I had about an hour to get to Liverpool Street Station for a train back to base. I hailed a cab saying Liverpool Station. He replied - I don’t have enough petrol. When I said if I didn’t make the train I would be AWOL. He said hop in Yank we’ll give it a go.  We made it. Orders came thru for me to leave the following morning. Lt. Maloney volunteered to drive me to the station in Chelmsford. We got a late start and the hollows were covered in solid fog. Maloney was traveling at 50 mph and at each hollow I wondered if we would live to make the train. I had a one night stopover where I was quartered in a tent center oval at Epsom Downs. Once at Greenock, I boarded the Queen Mary.  5 days later we arrived in N.Y. in about half the time of the Aquitania. 
Fort Slocum, New York
While at Fort Slocum in Long Island Sound, New York and waiting for completion of paperwork on my deferment, I was given a pass to N.Y.C. I and a fellow who was to be discharged went to N.Y.C.  Slocum was on an island – so we first went by ferry to the mainland. There we boarded the subway – a local to a street where we could switch to an express that zoomed us into Grand Central with few stops.  From there you could shuttle to Times Square, Broadway and 42nd Street all on a nickel. We decided we would go the Coney Island. We were told it was at the end of the subway line. We didn’t know the difference between across town, uptown and downtown and still don’t.  The subway we rode took us out in the country with farmlands. Seeing our mistake and there being a train returning to the city – we boarded it. Back in the city we made the necessary transfer and went to Coney Island – all on a nickel. We roamed the park and rode one ride, Bob Bartlett’s Bob Sled. Similar to the Jack Rabbits only you rode a 2 man sled with wheels in place of runners. The ride was thru a tube, opened about 1/3 at the top just when it appeared you would go out the opening, it turned and took you to the other side – real thrilling!
While at Slocum one guy had brought back a pint of whisky from New York City. He asked if I would join him at the dock to drink it. I agreed and picked up two cokes to mix. Not thinking a pint then was the full 16 ounces and cokes were only seven ounces. We ended up drinking the whiskey from the bottle and sipping cokes for chasers.

In New York the fellow I was with was confronted by a beggar – perhaps about 40-45 years old. We told him he should be working as everyone else was. As we left he was muttering something. That night at the bar in the hotel Taft having a drink - the second guy over was the beggar only now he was all dressed up, suit and tie. We overheard him tell the guy alongside that he would beg before finding a job and going to work as his ex-wife would only garnishee his wages.

When I left Slocum for home on that deferment, a sailor (who I met at the station) was going to Chicago and I to Detroit. Upon boarding the train we headed to one of the end seats that faced one another with no center arm rests. The reason being we could curl up and sleep being a night trip. We just got seated and a colored porter came down the aisle saying make way for the lady with a baby. When he got to us he said would you gentlemen move for the lady with the baby? We could see at the far end of the car a girl coming in and it appeared she was carrying a pink blanket – so we did move. When she got closer we and porter seen it was one of those wrap around fuzzy coats popular at the time. The surprised porter said I thought you all had a baby. Well we had given up our seats but before we reached Albany, the sailor was with the gal and had his arm wrapped around her. She got off either at Syracuse or Buffalo so we had the seats again.

Fort Sheridan, Illinois (March of 1944)
With my deferment over, I was sent to Fort Sheridan in Illinois-Custer was no longer taking recruits. I had no intention of returning to the engineers as that was all back work and wanted to go to the Air Force. I requested the change first to a M. Sgt – then several Lts. finally getting to a Major. His reply was you’re a Cpl and the Air Force likes to make their own. I told him no problem; you can have these stripes now. He said you would take a voluntary bust? I said yes and he said you got it! I was then sent to Sheppard Field in Wichita Falls in Texas. Wichita was the dust bowl of the nation. Every late afternoon the wind picked up and blew sand so much so it filled the street gutters requiring every morning sweepers. I and four others grabbed N.C.O. quarters at the end of the 2nd floor, offering some privacy. 

One fellow, a Paul Paranello from Chicago, and apparently a favorite son of every relative – every mail call he received many boxes of food. We would sometimes not go to evening chow but eat off Paul. He had one aunt that weekly sent him a pint of whiskey inside a loaf of hollowed out homemade bread. Only 3 of us drank, so we would eat bread crust and down the pint. On Saturday inspection Paul would have to distribute the food among us to hide from the inspector. Another fellow was Tony Moto – he owned a bar in Chicago. Once having syphilis – at every physical check he got pulled aside and was given extra checks. The third was a guy we called Dr. Cyclops, about 6’ 4” – 250 or more pounds and glasses like the bottom of coke bottles. He had an I.Q. of 158 or 159 out of a 160 but he didn’t know his right foot from his left.  Being the tallest, he led the platoon when marching and was always out of step. He wanted to be an aerial gunner but his height and size would prohibit. Upon completion of basic they kept him as in interviewer. The last fellow, I don’t remember his name, but he was from California and every week he received a dozen or more avocados he ate like apples. 

From Sheppard to Lowry Field (Denver)
From Sheppard I was sent to Lowry Field in Denver, Colorado. Naturally on arrival we were given physicals. There were 5 or 6 of us from Sheppard and they held us aside while processing the others. A lot went thru our heads thinking maybe they had something contagious at Sheppard and we would be quarantined. They then flushed out our ears. The dirt that came out was unbelievable. We could now hear a pin drop. Denver is known as the mile high city and the first step to the Capitol building is exactly 5,280 feet. Denver had a trolley car transit and the cars going opposite directions passed relatively close. One child rider stuck his head out the window when another going the opposite direction decapitated him. 

A “Gay Encounter” – one day in a bar having a beer a guy came and sat beside me. He leaned over and whispered in my ear “I could go for you”, and I said move your ass or I’ll flatten you right here. When leaving he said you don’t have to be so nasty. 

At Lowry Field, Colorado again had gotten the barracks room for non coms - only four of us a Charles Farrell, Snowden Fletcher and Norman Kruvant. Kruvant was a Russian Jew and owner of the St. Francis Hotel in South Orange, New Jersey. He and I corresponded for a short while after the war. He had started a project in South Orange of 1200 homes hoping to sell to returning G.I.s. He stated he was either going to be rich or a pauper if it failed. The four of us were given the duty of assigning work for the cleaning of the barrack. I took charge and Farrell was assigned to having either sweep or mop the floor.  Kruvant seen to having those clean the latrine and shower. Fletcher having someone haul out the trash and police the grounds. On a pass day into Denver the four of us were in a bar having a beer when the waitress brought us a round we hadn’t ordered. She said Dr. Mallet had bought and she pointed him out at another table. We have him a high sign of thanks and he picked up his drink and joined. The Dr. was a dentist in the building and had come down for one drink only. We talked for awhile and he had to get back to appointments. Before he left he bought us another round. The next time we were in the bar the waitress had been instructed to give him a call. Down he came to join us.  Again he bought us a round and another before he left. He stated if any of us wish to return after the war he would finance us to raising sheep in the mountains on government owned ground. He said in ten years we cold retire rich. I don’t believe his offer was taken!


Those early 29s you would sometimes have one that would not pressurize so you would go on oxygen. You would be at 29-30,000 feet and wanting a cigarette. You would remove your mask, light the cigarette, get 3 or 4 drags and start to black out – then hurriedly replace your mask only to repeat the process. Example of how you were once addicted to nicotine. Not only you but the whole crew would do the same. 

From Denver I came home on furlough in August seeing Sandra for the first time (Sandra was born in June 1944), and then I went back to Fairmont to join the crew. While at Fairmont, Mother came to see me by train from Michigan.  This time she was there for the most part of a week. She stayed in a dilapidated hotel like the Willard Hilton (a not particularly nice hotel in Bay County). I doubt it had 10 rooms, I believe the only occupants were her and the wife of a Warrant Officer on base. While there she came to the base and we were able to have time together – that plus I had gotten one pass for the day. On one occasion while waiting for the bus in the guard shack at the gate she fainted. Those there thought she might be pregnant. Not likely – Sandra was only months old.

Events That Could Have Resulted In Not Having a Dad
Fairmont Army Air Field
When I joined the crew in Fairmont, Nebraska I thought I completed the crew of eleven although I surmised later there may have been another C.F.C. gunner before me but I was never told. Our pilot Hardtack I believe had much to do in selection of his crew. If he felt one did not fit he could request another. I know we got rid of our radio operator that way and got Smitty. 
A few hours after I joined the crew in Fairmont, Nebraska we were scheduled for a flight and I was to join them. After a short briefing we went through squadron supply to pick up our chutes. Dad’s chute- because of not having much room in my position and needing to be more mobile was a chest chute – all others were back packs.  In squadron supply they gave me a chest chute saying they would fit it next time. I didn’t even know how to put it on. Shortly after take-off we had an engine fire we were unable to extinguish. We returned to the field with fire trucks waiting for us at the end of the landing strip. We landed well down the runway so we ended up in the mud at the end. The fire was extinguished and a half-track was required to remove the plane from the mud. Now this was Dad’s first plane flight ever and from take-off to landing was 9 minutes. Engine fires were common with the B29 – we probably had as many that caused us to abort as missions we completed. 
Those first B29s we trained in were so unreliable. I don’t know of one that would have completed a mission. They would not pressurize and we would be at 28,000 to 30,000 feet on oxygen and wanting a cigarette. We would go off oxygen, light that cigarette; start to black out after a drag or two, hurriedly put the mask back on, only to repeat. How foolish!

Or on a return flight after a raid you could wake up to find that you were the only one awake as all others were sleeping. Faithful “Good Deal” just rumbling along on course. What trust!  


While at Fairmont we were to fly a simulated night bomb run on Duluth, Minnesota. A Lt. James elected to buzz the main street at only a few hundred feet altitude with landing lights on. Needless to say word got back to the Colonel and he was called on the carpet. When other Lts. made Captain he remained a Lt. On Tinian he flew very few missions as he was assigned a test pilot. Whenever a plane had an engine change or repair he was to place a couple of flying hours on it before it was permitted a bomb run. A risky deal as repaired engines frequently developed fires. James, apparently in college had a couple of years in electrical engineering. On the rock there was a large powered generator of the Japs that had a large shell hole in its casing. James convinced the Colonel he could repair it and provide all the electricity we would need. At the time we were dependent on a portable generator that only allowed us a 40 watt bulb for each tent. Mess hall and headquarters were equally in need of more electricity. He got consent and was assigned a half dozen or more helpers. First they constructed a half Quonset for its housing. They then erected from welded frames that had held hundred pound bombs and strung wiring. After a couple of months it was the big day to start the generator. All work stopped to view the event. When started it shook the whole island. It was a wonder it didn’t shake the island off its hour glass pedestal. It was shutdown and after several more weeks of work it was again started – this time with success and it did give us ample electricity. While we were at lead crew school James and a Lt. Cortland flew a few missions with Good Deal.

At Fairmont on one pass Tobin and I elected to go to Columbus, Nebraska – it being slightly larger than Fairmont and about 70 to 80 miles north. We hitchhiked and found it not much different than Fairmont. As it near dusk, we found we could not get a ride back. Not having money for a motel we decided we would sleep on benches in the park. The local constable would not allow this but gave us sleeping quarters in their one jail cell.  It had 4 bunks, a stool and basin. After we were in he locked the cell. The following morning another constable released us and brought us eggs and toast from a local restaurant and coffee they had at the jail, compliments of the City. 

What remains the most vivid in my memory was early morning returning from a night raid and flying just above the white billowing clouds that you felt you could get out and roll around on. Then have the sun come peeking through those clouds. No artist could paint or poets describe the beauty. Just picturesque!

One of our requirements in our transition flying was a simulated bombing flight over water with the Gulf of Mexico being the target. From Fairmont to the Gulf of Mexico was a flight that would be about equal the distance from the Mariana’s to the main land of Japan. Those early B29s few if any were able to complete. It was so expected, that we carried along our clean khakis, dress shoes, shaving kit and swim trunks expecting to land somewhere south. A failure out over the Gulf meant a landing at some coastal city, and being the first of December it would be warm while back at Fairmont winter had set in. We were out over the Gulf when we blew a cylinder in the #3 engine – it went right through the cowl and its angle was such it just missed the fuselage. Some previous crews had landed in New Orleans saying it was a wild town. We tried to convince Hardtack to go there but he had already contacted Galveston Air Force Base it being closer.  It proved a wise choice as we developed a fire in a second engine but was able to extinguish. 
After landing, Hardtack phoned Fairmont only to find they were snowed in and would not be able to send a plane for us for several days. The base then assigned us quarters and a mixed uniform pass in the event someone forgot to bring a hat, tie, etc. We all then headed for the gate to go to town. The Corporal at the gate wasn’t interested in our passes but wanted to see our prophylactic kit. Hardtack stepped forward and said – Corporal my men can take care of themselves. With that the Corporal said – where is your pro kit sir. Sheepishly we went to the nearest orderly room and acquired kits. The V.D. rate in Galveston was so great that pro-kits were more important than passes. Galveston was a resort town having hotels, rides and concessions along its shore front. Most were closed as it being December.  We found a bath house open and went swimming in the Gulf, a first. In town, Stokes, the flight engineer and I had become buddies, both married and about the same age. We and the officers checked in at a hotel for the night. The rest of the enlisted men stayed at another they found cheaper. I believe Stokes and I paid $4 each.  Stokes and I buddied up looking for a tavern and a beer. Everyone we located had a “members only” on the door. We were leaving the last when Stokes said I’m so dry I can spit sawdust – we’re going back even if we have to join. We rang the buzzer, they opened the door and we walked in. You did not have to be a member – only white – the sign was to keep out Negroes and Mexicans. The following day we took a bus to Houston where we spent the day just bumming around. We returned to base that night where we stayed a day or so until Fairmont sent a B17 for us.
Herrington, Kansas

After our transition flying we went by train to Herrington, Kansas. Because we lacked sufficient flying hours for the month because of our transferring – in order to receive our flying pay Hardtack managed to get a plane so we could get in our time. We were to takeoff early morning. Well, we started down the runway, couldn’t get lift because of the frost. We returned to the tarmac and scraped and swept the frost from the wings. We thought we did sufficiently but the next attempt had the same results. The third cleaning got us off. Today they have tanker trucks that spray the plane. 

The State of Kansas was completely dry but on army bases the N.C.O. and Officers Clubs allowed liquor and beer. Once you were assigned a plane and until you left – the crew had to guard the plane 24 hours around the clock. Charles Abel the III, C.F.C. gunner for Houser’s crew had gotten theirs. (Abel’s father owned a spa in Hot Springs, Arkansas.) We were at the N.C.O. club and Abel was to relieve his crew member of guard duty at midnight. He was so drunk we thought that if he left he would go to the barracks and end up sleeping. A few of us volunteered to take him to the barracks where we put him into sheepskins including hat and boots – then sent him to relieve his crewmember. The following morning at breakfast we seen the fellow that Abel was to relieve. We asked if Abel got there OK. He said no. We told him what we had done and didn’t understand. He said at daybreak he saw a pile on the tarmac and 150 feet away. He left the plane to examine and it was Abel. It was good we had put him in sheepskin or he might have frozen. 
In the theatre, Houser, Abel’s pilot returning from a mission had lost 2 engines to lack of gas.  As he was making his landing on two engines and just before touchdown, he lost the 3rd from lack of fuel. Fortunately, it was just feet from touchdown so it did not affect landing. Then in taxing off the runway – lost the 4th to lack of fuel. You could say they landed on vapors.
In Herrington, Kansas for the Xmas holiday we were given passes that allowed us to go to Kansas City, Missouri. Missouri was wet and loaded with bars and liquor stores where those from Kansas went to for drinking. Stokes and I were lined up to check into a hotel along with a dozen or more other GI’s. Ahead, the desk was turning them away and we thought the hotel to be filled. As we got closer they were claiming all they had left was a room with 5 beds. Virgil and Berg from Kammer crew were behind us and we decided the 4 of us would take the room as it was cheaper than 2 doubles. Before leaving, we found out that they were renting double rooms; they only had wanted to get the 5 bedroom rented so they said they were sold out of doubles. The room was huge.  The hotel was filled with perhaps 90% G.I.s.  Everyone was partying, all doors were left open and all carried bottles going from room to room. Because of the size of our room – we got the most. An elderly, short, overweight, full colonel walked in with hat and tie to one side, blouse and shirt partially opened, red faced, blurry eyed and carrying a near empty bottle that he appeared to have drank the most. Berg seen him and went over saying to him “What are you a mess sergeant?” The colonel drunk as he was was straightening up and said “no – why”. Berg then brushed off the colonel eagles saying, “then what are you doing with these chickens on your shoulders”? The colonel – if he could have – would have court martialed Berg right there, but everyone was laughing so hard he had to go along. The colonel and Berg became buddies and they left the room arm in arm.
About 3:00 a.m. the partying had died down and we hit the sack.  Shortly after the phone rang. Virgil answered and it was Berg – he and the colonel were in jail. They had gotten into some ruckus at a bar and were arrested. They needed $100 to get out - $50 each. Well it was good we had the room and return train ticket paid for as we had barely enough for morning breakfast. We thought Berg would be AWOL. About 8:00 in comes Berg. The colonel had finally convinced them to accept his check which they had first refused. 

As training for the bombardier one of our flights was with 36 sand bombs to drop on target at a northern bombing range - one at a time. Well, about the 18th or 19th I felt myself getting sick from all the turning and knew I would never make 36. We would have about a two mile approach to target, two miles over target, two miles off then turn, return and repeat. The near constant turning was the cause of the motion sick feeling. About our 21st or 22nd drop – Hardtack came on the intercom saying next time Jake drop the whole load.  I wasn’t the only one feeling sick. We later found we had dropped the second greatest number.

When we got our assigned plane we left Herrington and were to re-fuel in Sacramento, California before going on to Hawaii.  Sacramento was completed covered in overcast. We started down but in a spiral – we didn’t know the reason until we broke out below the overcast. Sacramento sits in a crater completely surrounded by mountains. We stayed 2 days and the overcast did also. We managed a one day pass to San Francisco. We rode the cable car and ate in the Chinese Village. The cable car you can get on and off and walk alongside as fast as it goes up the hill.  Going down hill the conductor on a chair with his back against the cab has his foot on a wood plank that serves as a brake to slow the car down. I wondered what would happen should the plank break. Maybe it had other braking systems and that was just for show. 
Muroc Army Air Base (now named Edwards Air Force Base)
When we went to Muroc Army Air Base in Mojave California (NOTE: this is where the current space shuttle landings backup site is now named Edwards Air Force Base.) – temperatures were in the 100’s. Wilcox and I spotted a large pool with no one in it. We got on our swim suits and headed for a dip. We dove in simultaneously then nearly walked on water getting out. The reason no one was in the pool was because it was artesian well fed and probably 60 degrees or less in temperature. 

Hawaii

We landed in Hawaii 3 different times at both Hickam and John Rogers fields. On one occasion we needed an engine change so was there several days. We got to tour the island, seeing the blow hole, pineapple fields like our sugar beet fields in Michigan. Every little crossroad had a lunch stand where you could get steak sandwiches and free pineapple. Steak was plentiful as several islands had large cattle ranches. Back stateside it was rationed. We saw the Hawaiian Hotel that was featured in a movie. From the movie you got the impression it was mammoth with its walk thru lobby, etc. Well our Holiday Inn here in Bay City would have made 2 or more. The movie also featured Waikiki Beach which led you to believe it ran for miles. It was half the size of our Bay City State Park beach.
While we had seen Diamond Head with each landing and takeoff – I don’t know if there was a road up to it. We had to land to refuel at Kwajalein a long narrow atoll about a foot above sea level. It was completely free of vegetation except for a badly scarred palm tree. The landing strip was short of a mile which the 29 needed for takeoff. We had from midship thru the tail out over water to acquire takeoff. We made it and while we didn’t see any plane wreckages; I believe there may have been some that crashed. A radio operator, I forgot from whose crew, while on Kwajelein for refueling sat racking shells from his 45 when he accidentally pulled the trigger and shot his big toe off. It was several weeks later he joined his crew on Titian. I don’t believe Purple Hearts were given for self inflicted wounds. When we came back for lead crew school on a C54 we refueled at Johnston Island.
The B29 was designed for high altitude bombing. What wasn’t known were the high southern winds that existed in those altitudes over Japan. Those winds slowed our approaches to target less than 100 mph making us subject to ack-ack and creating inaccurate bombing. Of course, going off target those winds pushed us to over 300 mph. Curtis LeMay as a result ordered low level bombing dropping us to between 3000 and 8000 feet. At 3000 you can see people and cars moving about on the ground. Also, they could reach us with rifles although I don’t believe they did. Originally the tail had, in addition to 2 calipers, 50’s and a 20mm. It was removed as it was felt it wasn’t effective.  Many of the tail gunners- to make the Japs think it was still there – found rods or poles to take their place. Initially we had flak vests to wear but LeMay had them removed to reduce weight.  Our radio operator retrieved several and lined the floor with them in his area. Hardtack found them and he had to remove. Our calipers 50’s were capable of firing some 400 rounds per minute. You fired though in short bursts of 5 to 50 with pauses between as solid fire would heat and rupture your barrels.  On some of those first missions we had crews come back with half or more of their guns inoperable because of laying on the trigger.  We never lost a gun – only once to a warped shell.  It was tricky clearing –but we managed.
The first we were to service our guns I asked blister gunner Tobin to join me with upper 4 and 2 rear. Williams was to service his 2 tail and blister – Wilcox and radar Blankner for the bottom 2 forward and 2 rear. I went first thru the opening that gave us access to the fuselage top. At the forward turret I removed the cowl and was disassembling the first gun and no Tobin. I looked back and he had gotten on top but was straddling the fuselage and slowly inching himself forward – he was as white as a sheet. I told him to go back down and send Wilcox up. Wilcox and I could run the fuselage. Our daring though was Wilcox’s demise. After the war was over we were washing the wings of Good Deal with gas to cut the grime that was creating drag. Wilcox slipped and slid off – breaking his leg. He was still in the hospital when I left to return stateside. 
T. Sgt. B. J. Burgess – C.F.C. (Central Fire Control) Gunner with Captain Jimmy (Hardtack) Hardison’s crew plane B-29 “Good Deal” WWII – Tinian

Arrival in Tinian

We arrived on Tinian about the 2nd or 3rd of January 1945 and probably represented the first third of our group. Anyway, about the 3rd week of January they felt we had sufficient number to fly our first mission. Our first bombing mission was on the Island of Truk (Micronesia) – just a dot on the map. Truk was about the size of Tinian and was heavily fortified and because of that the army elected to bypass it, knowing over and beyond their supply line would be cut off and be of no threat. We were at 30,000 feet and would be over target in less than a minute but we had flak bursting all around. Suddenly we heard a loud crash, the plane shook. Everyone on the intercom asking – what was that? “Good Deal” was still flying so it was soon forgotten. When we landed back at Tinian, the unpressurized section between the tail and midsection had our exit door blown away. Indoctrinated!

When we first arrived on Tinian there were still Japs loose. Because of that, ground members were assigned night guard duty with their tin can machine guns. Nervous and at the first sound - they would open fire. Many tents had holes from their firing. We with cots and air mattresses ended up having the mattresses on the ground for sleeping. 

One of our missions was cancelled at the last minute and the mess hall had made us turkey sandwiches for the flight. Not wanting to waste them, they placed them at the end of the chow line for evening mess for anyone wanting one. Well in that heat those that ate them ended up with ptomaine and being hauled to the hospital during the night. Because of this instance the flight surgeon ordered that we have only peanut butter and jam sandwiches on all future flights.

For some reason we were issued new ammo for our 45s. The old we could dispose of as we wished. Wanting to fire them and not wanting the cleaning of the guns after – we stole Smittys (the radio operator) 45, and at cliffs edge fired the ammo. The dirty pistol we tossed on Smittys cot. He was mad but little he could do. Because of his oddity he was frequently the blunt of jokes.

We had a small, maybe two foot ditch, in front of the Quonsets. During the monsoon season it became a roaring river creating a waterfall at cliffs edge. To go to the mess hall that was perhaps only 400 feet away we needed to go up the hill a half mile or more to get across to mess.

We were scheduled to fly Super Dumbo, its purpose was to take off last then fly just off the coast of Japan and for any plane suffering sufficient flak damage or lost of engine so they may not make it back to Tinian or Iwo Jima we were to mother it in the event they had to ditch. In some cases the plane may remain afloat – others they would resort to life rafts. If they went down, we were to radio their position and circle until a surface craft or submarine arrived to pick them up. Because we may be in the air 20 or more hours, we had in each bomb bay – 640 gallon gas tanks needed for the extra flying.

The plane we were given was not “Good Deal”. Hardtack in examining the plane saw chucks to the tanks that would prevent jettisoning. He demanded they be removed and good he did. Take off was good but shortly after, one engine became on fire. We were able to extinguish but not fully feather prop. Knowing we could not make the flight on 3 engines, we elected to return when the second engine became on fire. This we were unable to extinguish so the bombardier jettisoned those 2 bomb bay tanks. The trailing gas from those tanks was ignited by the flaming engine and one or both exploded as we felt the shock. The fire had destroyed the wiring in the landing gear and the closing of the bomb bay doors. We were prepared to jump but Hardtack said he was taking us in. Hardtacks belly landing was perfect. The open bomb bay door and nacelle doors plowed the asphalt like a farmer plowing his field before collapsing. The Seabees were in the process of asphalting the 4 runways and the one we landed on was the only one completed. We at mid-section were standing waiting to exit. The radar operator was first at the door and jumped before we were fully stopped, he fell and skinned his forearm for which he was given a purple heart. Believe we all got minor scratches getting out. The fire was extinguished and we were taken to medical for examination. At medical, they gave us 2 bottles of labeled whiskey which we drained. The flight engineer got high and was saying Hartacks crew could lick any crew on the island and had wanted to try.

There had been cases where the bombardier was injured or killed going in on target and the bombs could not be dropped until someone could leave his position. Because of this, the ships were being wired to have a toggle between the pilot and co-pilot that could perform this function. Our first mission after the change we were loaded with 144 one hundred pound incendiaries and one 500 pound general purpose. We were on the taxiway and next for take-off. Here we revved engines, checked flaps and closed the bomb bay doors. Suddenly there was a loud crash and the radio operator from his position could see the forward bomb bay. He came on the intercom (and you would have to know Harold (H20) Smith as all radio operators were in another world) saying: “The bombs are on the runway Sir”. We knew Hardtack had heard but said what did you say Smitty: to which Harold replied “I said the bombs are on the runway Sir”. Anyone else might have said holy shit we dropped our bombs. Many of the incendiaries rolled under the revolving props – had any ignited they would have detonated others and we would have went up in flames and perhaps taken a half dozen other planes lined up behind – as we lined up real close. Jake, the bombardier, was all shook up as he thought he maybe toggled the wrong switch. He was called before the Colonel - but later examination showed armament, in making the changes, had crossed wires. Don’t know if any were punished.

Our first mission to the island of Truk we were not credited with a mission even though we had our exit door blown away. It was considered only a practice run.

On the all out seven day incendiary raids on Tokyo we burned out 32 square miles and killed over 100,000 – greater than Hiroshima. We flew 4 of the 7 missions – aborting on the 5th from engine fire. Those who were able to fly 5 of the 7 received the D.F.C. (Distinguished Flying Cross). The thermal heat from these raids became so great that if you attempted flying the center and not the outer edge it would bounce the plane like a cork on water. One crew from the 58th wing whose C.F.C. gunner I had attended school with, had a fractured vertebrae from their plane being badly tossed.

We encountered only one Baka bomb (named OKRA), fortunately we spotted it in time and took evasive action. The Baka was a rocket propel suicide bomb. They were launched from a Betty bomber and were capable of speeds to 600 mph. Their problem was they had little maneuverability and only 2 minutes of flight. The pilot could not escape. The battleship Indianapolis carried the 2 atomic bombs to Tinian. Passage had been in complete silence and secrecy – no radio contact. They left Tinian for the invasion of Okinawa. About the fourth day they were attacked and sunk by the Japanese. Their distress calls were first ignored thinking it a hoax as they had no word of their coming because of their silence. The results of the delay 1200-1400 sailors were lost – only 300-500 were finally rescued.

After our crash landing and having over 20 missions instead of 2 weeks at Oahu for R and R we were sent home for lead crew school.  Before our return, I purchased a case of Imperial whiskey with intention of trading.  I distributed them among the enlisted so no one had more than 2 bottles in the B4 bags.  Back on the rock and with the line chief’s jeep I headed to the port battalion for a trade. I arrived near dark and was told Wright was at the movies. At the projection booth I had him paged.  Now I hadn’t told him of our going state-side. I saw him coming and when he recognized me he rushed forward and I thought he was going to hug and kiss me – but we shook hands with him saying – where you been? I thought you were dead. We were back in business and we continued to trade until I was down to 2 bottles. Thinking I should recover my investment I headed to the Seabees and had little trouble selling them for $50.  The case had cost me $40 and I was wishing I had an unlimited supply.

Our drinking buddies on beer night and these sessions were 2 cooks we nick-named the Ptomaine Twins – Curly and Scurvy – along with the line chief Levylete. The chief on beer nights always had extra ration cards that several ground crews who did not drink had lent him for the night. This he distributed among us so we would often go thru the line more than once. We were often drinking at the picnic table long after the P.X. closed. With the 2 cooks among us we often left there for the mess hall where they would cook us an early breakfast. On one such occasion they said cook your own – which we proceeded to do. I cracked an egg and pulled the shell off on it and it remained intact as I thought the shell was still on.  Thinking it spoiled, I showed it to the twins and they said you get a lot like that because they have been in cold storage so long, hit it with the spatula. This I did only to have it bounce back. They said not the flat – the edge – it then slowly oozed out and I don’t recall any difference in taste. While we kidded the Ptomaine Twins on their cooking, one had been in civilian life, 1st cook in the kitchen at the Waldorf Astoria in N.Y. On one of our beer nights to show they could cook they brought over 2 kettles – one of spaghetti and one of sauce. The sauce I had to admit – was some of the best I had tasted - but then again – maybe it was the beer.

We had accumulated about 8 bottles of that government rye when one day our tail gunner, Red Williams, came in sucking on several limes. I questioned him as to where he had gotten then.  He said – at cliff’s edge there is a tree just loaded. That gave me an idea and I gave Red a pith helmet and asked him to go fill it as I thought I had a way of getting rid of the rye whiskey. With a 5 or 6 gallon water can and the line chief’s jeep I headed to the Seabees where I knew they had an ice machine. I had them fill it with crushed ice. Back at the Quonset, the fellows cut and squeezed the limes into the can. I secured a bag of sugar from our 2 cook friends and invited them for later. With some of the sugar in we added 8 or so bottles of rye. The flight engineer and I alternated going for chow and protecting the opening of the can until our cooks could join. I have to say – it made a good drink to the last drop. The very last of it though was quite watery.

Shortly after our arrival on the rock, C.F.C. gunner Robards of Capt. Hales’ crew and mates elected to make some “raisin jack”. With fruit bars from K rations, dried peaches and apricots from the mess hall, a nail keg, water and mosquito netting it was started. In that heat it soon began working and at times you thought there were 2 cats fighting inside that keg. Several days after the fermenting stopped, the keg was tapped. Well, it was worse than that mission rye – but we drank it. A couple of guys with a little too much took out the “45’s” and began shooting out lights from several tents. A mistake – as this spread the word and the following day several Officers made tent inspection but by then the keg had returned to being a stool for card playing. Inspection continued requiring the next batch to be brewed in a cane field. Not under daily view – the netting blew off and bugs entered requiring several strainings thru netting. We were again invited but turned it down as the first batch had eaten the aluminum coating off our mess cups.

One day while returning from the line on the back of a truck – as we approached the natives’ camp we noticed a large gathering and the driver stopped to check. The elderly and the young were the only ones in camp; the able being assigned work during the day. The group was moving about some with hands in the air, others screaming. We found out what had happened. One of the youngsters with his sibling on his back had gone to relieve himself in the slit trench they had for a latrine. The baby had slipped out of the sling falling into the trench. The M.P. at the gate had to go over, get in the trench in order to retrieve the kid.  Other than being covered and bawling – I guess the kid just needed a wash job. The M.P. though had his bleached white leggings covered to just above the ankles. I always felt he should have been given some sort of medal for his heroic deed.
The B29 was designed to carry, with full gas tanks, a bomb load of 10,000 pounds. General Curtis LeMay had us carrying 14,900 nearly half again as much. The end results were that we needed the entire runway for take-off and frequently dropped down to where the tail skid would hit the water. The 58th wing with older planes had several crash. In one crash, 2 Seabees in a weapon carrier at the end of the runway watching take-off were burnt to a crisp in addition to the plane crew. I saw pictures.

April 21, 1945 Dad shot down a Jap Oscar (that’s an airplane). A claim was placed on another hit but interrogation gave it to another.
Additional Important Information
Dad was in the Mariana’s on the island of Tinian from the first of January 1945 to the last part of November, 1945. The Mariana’s is a series of islands running north to south in the southwestern Pacific – some 150 to 200 miles above the equator. The three main islands of the group being Guam, Saipan and Tinian. B29s flew from all three islands for bomb raids on the island of Japan and Truk and Iwo Jima before they were secured. We were 20th Air Force, 21st bomber command, 313th wing, 504th bomb group and 421st squadron. A long address but only the bomb group and squadron pinpointed your location. Tinian had the largest concentration of 29s having 2 wings while Saipan and Guam each had one.

My position was central fire control gunner, top position or blister having complete control of the upper aft 2 caliper 50 guns and secondary control of the 4 upper forward 4 caliper 50 guns. The central fire control system was the advanced state of the art for its day being the first remote controlled aerial gunnery system. We tracked and fired our guns from a sighting station with the turret and guns following our every movement.  This enabled the pressurization of our cabins – the guns and turrets being outside the cabins. This also allowed our high altitude of flying and no need for oxygen. We carried masks with oxygen only in the event we lost pressurization. Our canisters, if I remember right, carried 1000 rounds per gun with 12 guns per plane that was a lot of fire power. The 50 were capable of firing 400 to 500 rounds per minute in continuous fire but that only burnt out the barrels so you fired in short bursts of 20 to 40 rounds to keep your guns cool with pauses between bursts of 3 to 5 seconds.

The central fire control gunner or CFC was the head gunner carrying a top rating of Tech Sgt with the other gunners under carrying a top rating of Staff Sgt.

Our crew consisted of eleven men. Pilot, co-pilot, navigator, bombardier, flight engineer, radio operator, radar operator, tail gunner, two side or blister gunners and myself.

The navy flew some B24s off of Tinian but I don’t recall any air force. The B29 was considered the advance of advances for planes in its day because of its speed, long range and high altitude capabilities, something like the Concord of today.

Our flights to Japan round-trip were 13 ½ to 16 ½ hours depending on target location and head winds. We carried 6800 gallons of gasoline and needed every bit. Our maximum bomb load was over 15,000 pounds – some 5,000 over its design of 10,000. We frequently carried 144 one hundred pound incendiaries and 2 five hundred pound general purpose. Small by today’s standards of payloads but mighty big then.

War Over

With the war over and of the 16 planes in our squadron; Good Deal was the only one of our originals still flying. Others had been replaced; either lost or severely damaged one or more times. You could look down the revetments (revetments are structures placed on banks or bluffs in a way as to absorb energy of incoming waves – like seawalls) and pick it out without seeing its name. It set lower and was duller than the rest as though war weary. Our guns were normally stowed horizontal and facing the rear. One day a ground member of armament was passing under the plane when a worn sear released the gun’s bolt and continued firing, nearly cutting the fellow in two. After that all guns were stowed with the lowers depressed and the uppers elevated. I believe it was the only death of a ground member.

At our plane one day we watched a plane coming in for a landing. We found out later that it was a replacement and the crew was landing for the first time on the island coming in over water to a 200 ft elevated landing strip with a cliff edge just above shore line requires much skill on the pilot. We could see he was too low and the cliffs edge tore off his landing gear and a wing broke with the plane bursting into a big ball of flames. The crew was dead having never flown a mission. 

Returning from dropping supplies to a P.O.W. camp after the war, we hit a severe storm. Suddenly we began dropping rapidly in an uncontrolled spiral. Just before hitting the ocean, Hardtack and DeWitt managed to get control. The plane had been put to so much stress that we had numerous cracks in the leading edge of the wings. Hardtack’s explanation was – we hit a void or vacuum – but the flight engineer said we hit speeds up to 500 miles an hour. In a vacuum I don’t believe the air speed indicator would function. I believe someone accidentally bumped the controls.

Crash Landing (as taken from a newspaper article)

Chaplain Earle Raitt of the 504th Bomb Group waited until the war was over before he took his first flight over Japan, but as far as he is concerned it was no “milk run”. The affable chaplain tagged along on a POW supply mission and everything went wrong. The Superfort couldn’t locate its target.

Then one engine conked out and a thunderhead sent the ship into an 8,000 foot nose dive. Plummeting between 500 and 600 miles an hour, the B-29 began to lose “skin” from the fuselage and a second engine caught fire. Miraculously, the pilot eventually righted the plane, extinguished the fire and crawled the remaining 200 miles to Tinian on two engines. “That was one time I really thought I was about to sprout wings” Chaplain Raitt reminisces.

Also a representative from some company was aboard and he wasn’t seen after leaving the crash. 

On one flight with supplies for a P.O.W. camp on the northern side of Japan, when we arrived the area was covered in fog. Hardtack, thinking we might be able to fly beneath, we went out over the Sea of Japan where it was clear, returning at a lower altitude only to hit the white blanket as we neared shore. Several more attempts at lower heights resulted in the same. Our last attempt we were so low our props were creating wake on the water. You might say – ceiling was zero – Japanese planes.

Entrepreneur Extraordinary

With the war over, someone elected to go back to Quonset hut inspections. We were forewarned and the fellows did a good job in placing ours in order. A 1st Lt and a Cpl. with a clipboard entered the rear of our Quonset and were slowly looking over its length. Near the end he stopped in front of me saying a job well done Sgt. I said thank you Sir and gave him a salute, which he returned and was out the door. Well, the door had hardly closed when he was back in and said get rid of those beer cases Sgt. I said yes Sir and we again exchanged salutes. I was glad he did not ask where we had gotten that much beer. I may not have had an answer. The beer cases (about 10) are what the story is about. When the natives showed up picking up trash – I had them remove. As they left, on the back of the truck they were sampling any cans that had remaining liquid. Now the story of the beer cases.

After each mission and during interrogation, we were given a quart of 100 proof government distilled rye whiskey - to settle our nerves I guess. With the first mission we did drink it, but agreed that with future missions the enlisted would take the bottle and the next the officers. We had accumulated several bottles and not wanting to drink it, sell it or give it away; rumor had it that the Seabees somehow had extra beer. Thinking maybe I could make a swap – I borrowed the line chief’s jeep, M. Sgt. Levylete (one of our drinking buddies) and headed there with a bottle. Several inquiries brought no results – but the last told me I should see Sgt. Wright at the P.X. of the post battalion. He provided me with directions and I headed there. 

Now Tinian is somewhat the shape of the Island of Manhattan in N.Y. so the Seabees had made roads similar - having Broadway and 42nd St.  Broadway ran much the length of the island and having one hill in it in which Levylete’s jeep had a badly worn clutch plate and it was always questionable if it would make the climb – often breaking the crest at 5 mph. Return trip was O.K. as it being downhill. I located the P.X. and asked for Wright. The port battalion enlisted were all black with white officers. Wright showed and I showed him what I had and wanted to exchange it for beer. He was skeptical thinking I was an Officer. When I assured him I wasn’t he asked – how much beer. I said 3 cases – then he agreed and in no time he and 2 others had the beer in the jeep, he had the bottle and said – now get out of here fast.

I figured I now had a source for getting rid of the rot-gut. A few days later I was back for another trade. Wright though said – no way – that’s fire water.  Bring some label stuff and we will deal but no 3 cases – only 2.  Well, what I thought was a “Good Deal” (our planes name) was down the drain.  Somehow my trade got known and I had 2 Officers that I did not know approach me asking if I could make a swap for them. (Now the Officers had a Casablanca Club in which they were allotted several bottles of whiskey and spirits a month). I said I could and for 2 bottles I would get 4 cases but one was to be mine.  This they agreed to, so back in business.  Several more trades were made for other Officers under the same terms.

Over confident

Several officers from the 58th wing who had large winnings playing poker in their group thought they could clean the island and come over to ours. Jimmy Hardison our pilot I know ended up with a good share of their loot sending them back to their outfit near broke. I heard Jimmy send $8000 home.

Sleepy Head

Our radar operator, Frances Blankner could sleep more than anyone in the Bomb Group. After take-off on a mission and the navigator having obtained a heading from a point on Saipan he could shut off the set. He would then slip to the floor with his back against the bulkhead and in no time is asleep. As we neared Iwo we needed to wake him where again he operated the set only till we got another heading for Japan and went back to sleeping. This was repeated as we neared target and left the mainland and again as we neared Iwo and Tinian. In a 15 hour flight I believe he slept 13 hours.

Leaving for one of my trades with the port battalion, I asked Blankner to go along. The crew, I thought, all knew that Battalion was colored. Blankner was a full southern - right down to the drawl. When we got to the P.X. and he seen all those blacks he began shaking and continued until we were well on our return.

Our flight surgeon severely dreaded flying but was ordered to by Colonel Martin if he wished to continue to receive flying pay. Martin even had him fly passenger on one mission. I was told he shook the entire trip.

A Lesson Learned

Blister gunner, John Tobin, would every payday watch the crap game for hours – but never play. I once asked him why? He said one of these days. One of these days was the next pay-day investing $50.  An hour or so later he came to the Quonset with $800 in winnings. He asked me to hold $600 and no matter what not give it back for gambling. With the remaining $200 he returned to the game. It wasn’t long before he was back and wanting $200 of the $600. I told him no because he had stated before not to give it to him. He got mad and said Damn It it’s my money. I said OK take it all. He did and it wasn’t long after he returned with the $600 gone. He never shot craps again.

Let The Other Guy Do It

While in Herrington, fires in those barrack stoves were the responsibility of the camp during the day but at night it was the occupant’s responsibility. Our barracks had only us enlisted and one other crew. This one night everyone returning I guess thought the next ones would fire the stoves. By morning we were all freezing, we had frost on the rafters and a pipe had frozen in the latrine. We had 6 inches of water on the floor. We showered and shaved in a neighboring barracks and headed to the P.X. to get warm.

Waste

The number of vehicles the 58th wing drove over the cliff that they had stolen from transit units and others were many - as they needed to have their area cleared as they were returning stateside intact and were only allowed the original consignment. 

Picturesque

From lead crew at Muroc we flew several missions out over the Pacific to Portland and Seattle simulating radar bombing on the cities. Once on a return flight we flew the Rockies at timberline and seeing those majestic large redwoods, sometimes no more than 100 feet from our wing-tip.  Beautiful!

Briefing

One reason we slept on the plane – example – If it was a night or early morning bombing we would have been awake 30 or more hours. 

· First there was the briefing where we were told of the target and what to expect. Our Intelligence Officer, a Major Kenin, would tell us if it were high level bombing; you got nothing to worry about as all they had there were small guns and could not reach. On the other hand, were it low level - all they had were big guns and couldn’t track you. Somehow they got the right guns. As a result of his statements we nick-named him; “they can’t hit you at that altitude”. Mention that and everyone knew who you were referring to. 

· After briefing you were trucked to your plane, stowed gear, visual checked, manually turned props of four (4) engines (reason not to start engines on dry cylinders) wait your order of take-off. If we were one of the last, Hardtack had us throwing coins at a line in the coral. He loved to gamble – often on a return flight he played a card game with Jake at a penny a point. Don’t ever now of Jake winning but then he could afford it. 

· The flight of 15-16 hours, landing, visual check of damage, removing trash, stowing gear, informing ground chief of engine problems, etc. The tin can we had for a john, if used, needed emptying and cleaning (rule was the duty of the first to use it, needless to say many times it did not get used). Wait then for a truck to take us to interrogation, then after either, eating, showering or bed.

SS Hamlin

Having sufficient points for discharge, I was the first of the crew to leave for the states. I was first send to Saipan where I stayed for 12 days before landing on the Liberty ship the S.S. Hamlin. There I met 3 fellow pinochle players, not Air Force. We all boarded the Hamlin together keeping our pinochle game going. While going up the gangplank one of them pointed out a G.I. he had come over with saying he will be seasick before he gets on deck. Unbelievable, but when he hit the deck he was at the railing throwing up. The Hamlin was still changing directions every few miles for evasion purposes in the event some Jap sub that might have refused to surrender was still fighting the War. On board, our pinochle group occupied the fan tail under the gun mount for our games. The aft was the least crowded as it rode the roughest and many avoided. We picked up an Albatross that followed our ship all the way stateside. He would glide in the slip stream of the ship seldom flapping his wings. When the mess would dump food scraps over he would go down and eat.  After he finished, he would again overtake the ship. At night he would roost on the ship’s upper structure. Our return took either 16 or 19 days. We landed in San Diego where I boarded a slow freight train that was side lined for everyone; that took me back to Fort Sheridan, Illinois for discharge. I ended up being home about 2 weeks before Christmas in 1945. 

History of the 504th Bombardment Group*

The history of the 504th Bombardment Group (VH), in the 313th Wing, XXI Bomber Command of the 20th Air Force is a record of, and a tribute to, a cross section of American Youth in one of its finest hours.

The time was in the 1940’s during World War II. The place was Tinian in the Marianas Islands of the Western Pacific. Before the flights to Tinian, there had been a period of organizing and training at Fairmont Army Air Field in Nebraska.

Those duty filled days by Air Crews, Ground Crews, and all other Support Personnel were guided by Colonel James Connally, already a veteran of war in the Pacific.

The usual problems with a newly constructed airplane were encountered and surmounted. The Boeing B-29 Superfortress, a masterpiece of aeronautical design in its times, had its share – the engine cowling was too tight in order to decrease drag. The cowl flaps when open further increased drag and decreased the speed. The engines overheated on take-off.

Until the cowling was modified, it was necessary to fly at reduced power and low altitude for about 20 miles after take-off to cool the engines before climbing.

But, the Group completed training and deployed to Tinian on schedule.

At North Field, Tinian – at that time the world’s largest airport with four parallel 8,500 foot long runways – the threat of Japanese attack lingered but was gradually reduced.

B-29 operations started immediately with attacks against Japanese held islands such as Truk which was much closer than the Japanese mainland.

The 504th Bomb Group had two squadrons instead of the normal three squadrons. One of the original squadrons had been transferred, in the United States, for a highly classified mission. The squadron, the 393rd, became the nucleus of the 509th Composite Group, the first military unit in history to drop a nuclear bomb in combat.

That was the first of a number of pioneering initiatives that marked the 504th as a pioneer Group.

The 504th was favored with many innovative people. Improvements were commonplace. They included tactics, flying safety, and range experience as well as more efficient maintenance and logistic procedures. General Curtis LeMay, commander of the 20th Air Force, observed and discussed some of these accomplishments during his visits to Tinian.

The 504th, with its two squadrons instead of three, initiated the aerial mining campaign against Japan. That campaign, involving new tactics in dropping naval mines, curtailed 90 percent of Japanese shipping in the Inland Sea and had a major impact on Japan’s surrender.

By that time, the 504th had been joined by the other groups in the 313th Wing in a major mining effort.

In mid-June 1945, the 504th gained a new squadron, the 680th. Along with the 398th and the 421st, the 504th Group was back to full strength.

At that stage of the war, every mission was ordered as a maximum effort. The incorporation of the new squadron was expedited by the transfer of some of the best B-29 crews from the other Groups in the 313th Wing – from the 6th, 9th, and 505th Groups.

So the 504th became a composite of the entire Wing – an “All-American Group”.

General James Davies (Jungle Jim), the commander of the 313th Wing, was a strong supporter of the 504th and flew combat missions often with the Group. He was an inspirational combat leader.


The men of the 504th, throughout its history, demonstrated the strengths of American manhood, including an irrepressible sense of humor. As reflected in the personal reminisces included in the history record, the humor surmounted stress and danger.

The achievement was victory!

I understand from the author, Fiske Hanley, our dedicated Historian who was a flight Engineer in the 504th,that this work will be dedicated to those who gave their lives to achieve victory and also to those who survived. They too, volunteered, risked and achieved victory.

Bless them all and their families.

Lt. Gen. Glen W. Martin, USAF (Ret)

Dad’s Captain & Crew

	Crew Identifier
	Hardison

	Crew No.
	55, 208 on 421st list

	Squadron
	421

	Airplane Serial Number
	Unknown

	Crew Chief:
	Unknown

	Airplane Nose Art
	Good Deal

	Crew List:

	Position
	Name
	Rank

	Airplane Commander

Pilot

Navigator

Bombardier

Flight Engineer

Radio Operator

CFC Gunner

LH Gunner

RH Gunner

Tail Gunner

Radar Operator

Ground Crew
	Hardison, James L.

DeWitt, Osbe D.

Martin, John R.

Jacobs, Edgar P.

Stokes, Lawrence G.

Smith, Harold G.

Burgess, Billy J.

Tobin, John J.

Wilcox, Jack W.

Williams, Glen E.

Blankner, Francis W.

Buster
	Captain

1/Lt.

1/Lt.

1/Lt.

M/Sgt

S/Sgt

T/Sgt

Sgt

S/Sgt

S/Sgt

S.Sgt




*This information was taken from book: History Of the 504th Bomb Group (VH) In World War II by Williams S. Phillips, Published by: The 504th Bomb Group Association

P.O.Box 1800, Enfield, CT 06083-1800, Copyright 1992 – ID#91-067963
 
“Hardtack” – Jim Hardison & his Crew
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The Crew of B-29 “Good Deal” [Remove Pictures to reduce File Size]
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Good Deal Crew (Dad – bottom row second from the right)





Trottle Jockey was the Ground Crew’s Side of Good Deal (Dad not in this picture – ground crew only)








Patches - The 8th Air Force of 840th Engineers were attached. The 20th Air Force is part of our Pacific address: 20th Air Force, 21st Bomber Command, 313th Wing, 504th Bomb Group, 421st Squadron. The Bomb patch just signified we flew bombers.
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